# MINUTES of the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee held at Council Chamber - Brockington on Wednesday 18 January 2012 at 2.00 pm

Present: Councillor A Seldon (Chairman) Councillor JW Millar (Vice Chairman)

> Councillors: AM Atkinson, WLS Bowen, EPJ Harvey, AJ Hempton-Smith, MAF Hubbard, RC Hunt, TM James, Brig P Jones CBE, SJ Robertson and PJ Watts

#### In attendance: Officers: M Woodford (Chief Executive, Wye Valley NHS Trust); T Tomlinson (Director of Service Delivery, Wye Valley NHS Trust); S Collings (Associate Director of Information, Herefordshire PCT); J Jones (Head of Governance) and DJ Penrose (Democratic Services).

### 55. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillor PGH Cutter, JLV Kenyon, Miss E Lowenstein Councillor R Preece and Mr P Sell.

#### 56. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)

Councillor AJ Hempton-Smith for Councillor JLV Kenyon.

# 57. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were none.

# 58. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE SCRUTINY

There were none.

# 59. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

There were none.

# 60. WYE VALLEY NHS TRUST (Pages 1 - 26)

The Chairman welcomed the Chief Executive, Wye Valley NHS Trust (WVT) and the Director of Service Delivery, Wye Valley NHS Trust (WVT) to the meeting.

The Chief Executive provided the Committee with a presentation on the Trust (a copy of the presentation has been placed on the Minute Book as Appendix 1). In the ensuing discussion, the following points were made:

• The Director of Service Delivery reported that the key to the model was to ensure that care was provided for patients closer to the home and to reduce the numbers of patients admitted to the acute hospital. In reply to questions he went on to say that:

- There was a target to discharge the elderly sooner from hospital in order to allow them to recuperate in their own homes. This would allow patients to have greater independence.
- the Wye Valley Trust didn't have control over the provision of wardens in sheltered housing, and did not manage Ledbury Community Hospital. There was a focus on changing this into a resource centre for the community, with the intention of reducing the number of admissions to the acute hospital. These facilities were factored into any considerations of bed numbers in the County.
- aspects of Adult Social Care had been seconded to the Wye Valley Trust, but that the delivery mechanism remained the same. There was a great deal of management of the process, which was co-ordinated by the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Clinical Commissioning Group and Adult Social Care.
- whilst no-one was turned away from A&E, there was a need to educate the population as to how the service should be used most correctly. Nonattendance rates at clinics had been reduced from 10% to 5% by sending reminder letters, but further savings could be made in this area.

The Director of Service Delivery reported that there were issues associated with patients leaving hospital, and the discharge planning process was now designed to ensure that prescription were written the day before the planned patient discharge.

The Chief Executive went on to say that a great deal of work had been undertaken with the practitioner led Service Units as it was important to instil the right ethos into the organisation. In a similar fashion, the staff had been consulted widely on the values of the Trust, and the behaviour that underpinned these values. The Service offering had been designed to ensure that the Trust was a population based service provider and was not concentrating solely on acute care. Neighbourhood Teams were working with GPs to devolve care to the patient's home wherever possible.

In reply to a question, he said that there were alternative models that the Trust had learnt from, a particular example being Torbay, who were prominent in providing zoning teams for their area, which had seen a reduction in A&E admission rates.

He added that it was clear that greater development of community services was important, and an increase in the resourcing of Neighbourhood Teams was being considered. The Community Hospitals would not be closing, but changing their roles to that of a resource centre. This would providew an opportunity to promote home based care and extend healthcare with concommitent savings. If the changes were focussed and clinically sustainable then the bed base number would reduce as a result.

In reply to a comment that in an apparent desire to free beds within the Hospital elderly patients were being discharged late at night, the Chief Executive said that such practice did not accord with the Trust's own policy and best practice, and should not occur.

The Chief Executive went on to say that additional short stay surgery could now be undertaken in line with requests from Commissioners, and private healthcare facilities were being looked at to complement the work of the Trust. The Committee noted the key performance indicators that were highlighted by the Chief Executive. He reported that the summary hospital-level mortality indicator (SHMI) for the hospital was at 108, when the national average was 100 and that there had been no MRSA infections for over a year. There had been a CDiff outbreak in the spring last year, and the action plan that had resulted had been delivered against.

Material improvements had been made in stroke services, and they were well above the benchmark in this area. The Chief Executive concurred with a comment from the vice-chairman that this was a challenging area for a rural county.

In reply to a question regarding access targets, the director of service delivery said that there were a number of reasons why these figures had fallen slightly. Clinical urgency meant that a high volume of cases were being seen quickly and he wouldn't have expected to see a lower figure. In reply to a further question, he said that the action plan that was in place would deliver by the 31 march 2012. All available capacity had now been identified, and there was sufficient capacity within the system to accommodate patients. Risks that mitigated against a successful outcome for the plan included a bout of severe winter weather or an outbreak of influenza.

#### 61. CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

The Committee received a presentation from the Associate Director of Information, Herefordshire PCT (a copy of the presentation has been placed on the Minute Book as Appendix 2).

the Associate Director of Information, Herefordshire PCT added that the examples of patient safety and treatment that had been mentioned in the meeting highlighted the need for a clear structure in community integrated care organisations.

He went on to say that the walk in centre that had been constructed in an area of deprivation in Hereford had provided a service to the wider community and had provided for a subsequent reduction in A&E admissions. GPs were also engaging with the issue of A&E attendance, and were taking care to review patients who attended A&E regularly.

The financial position of the Wye Valley Trust should be taken within the context of the wider health care economy in Herefordshire. Collaborative working had been very successful in cutting costs, and one-off efficiencies would be brought forward. It should be noted, however, that the County had the lowest per capita spend on health care in the West Midlands. He undertook to provide the Committee with a briefing note on per capita spend on health care in the County.

He went on to say that Herefordshire Health Care Commissioners (HHCC) was established in shadow form as the Clinical Commissioning Group for Herefordshire in April 2011. HHCC was then established as a sub-committee of the NHS Herefordshire (PCT) Board with delegated responsibility for the main elements of health care commissioning in Herefordshire. The HHCC group was led by clinicians and supported by corporate PCT Staff.

From July 2012 HHCC would begin the Department of Health CCG authorisation process which would enable it to be established as a statutory organisation, subject to the enactment of the new Health and Social Care Bill, by April 2013.

He went on to say that in 2011/12 NHS Herefordshire developed a Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) plan that focused on transforming the way health care was delivered in Herefordshire whilst providing £10.8m in savings for reinvestment in frontline services. By December 2011 £7.8m of savings had been delivered which

was a 99.5% achievement against plan. In 2012/13 Herefordshire would need to deliver an additional £11m in QIPP savings in order to ensure the future sustainability of the Health Economy. Seventy additional suggested opportunities had been put forward to provide input to the plan, of which forty five had been taken up. High impact changes had been flagged up under the twin topics of community services and dementia care. These would be provided by the community services team and the neighbourhood teams. He was confident that should these two areas be delivered, then the rest of the QIPP plan would be delivered.

The Associate Director went on to report on the structure of the Herefordshire Health Care Commissioners. The structure had been seen at a national level, and the work with GPs had been held up as an example of best practice. He said that the authorisation process consisted of 6 domains wherein competency had to be demonstrated, together with a number of case studies that showed where an impact had been made on the health economy. It was important that those outside the County that HHCC should be in apposition to demonstrate an understanding of all aspects of commissioning.

In the ensuing discussion the following points were made:

- That the Herefordshire Health Care Commissioners was led by clinicians and the views of the local population by way of consultation.
- That of the 94 competencies that were required for the Department of Health authorisation to establish HHCC as a statutory organisation, there were 61 longer term measures and 58 key lines that were emerging around the QIPP plan. It was expected that these areas would be considered on a quarterly basis.
- A Member said that there was concern regarding the way in which the performance of the Ambulance Service was judged, as the present system meant that the service was liable to concentrate its effort on response times in urban areas, where distances were shorter. The Ambulance Trust needed to be more engaged in the County as there were real concerns as to how standards of response times could be raised in rural areas.

In reply to a question, the Associate Director said that there was evidence that access to services in areas of deprivation in the County could be improved. A public patient engagement meeting was set up to explore the issues, especially concerning children, young people, and white working class males, but the audience had been made up of those involved in the public sector.

The Associate Director said that there was an over medicalisation of births in the County as the average cost of a birth in the West Midlands was  $\pounds 678$ , whilst in Herefordshire it was  $\pounds 1,500$ . This pathway would be looked at to find ways of reducing costs.

He concurred with the suggestion from a Member that more use should be made of the Third Sector, and said that some of the services that had to be delivered by HHCC could be provided more efficiently by that sector. Personal budgets would help support these organisations. The HHCC commissioned large medical pathways, and consideration would be given as to how these could be reduced into smaller units that would enable third sector organisations to bid for them.

In reply to a further question, the Associate Director said that management reductions were being achieved by mapping staff to alternative organisations. The Clinical Commissioning Group would not have more than thirty staff once it was in place. He went on to say that the GP Parliament was elected by the 24 practices in the County and

it had four representatives on the Herefordshire Health Care Commissioning Board who were elected by specialist field.

He added that when the PCT ceased to exist, responsibility for the health of the population of the County would fall to the Council, not the Clinical Commissioning Group. He concurred with comments that public engagement with public health service was important, especially in areas such as South Wye and Leominster.

The meeting ended at 16:15

CHAIRMAN